## **Solar III Project**

## **Power Sales Contract**

#### Between

Florida Municipal Power Agency, Solar III Power Project

and

City of Lake Worth Beach, Florida

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1.	Definitions and Explanations of Terms. As used herein:	2
SECTION 2.	Term & Termination.	3
SECTION 3.	Sale and Purchase.	4
SECTION 4.	Project Budget.	4
SECTION 5.	Billing, Payment, Disputed Amounts.	5
SECTION 6.	Scheduling of Deliveries; Transmission.	6
SECTION 7. and Solar 2 Proje	Solar PPA Early Termination and Term Extension, other Solar PPA Business I ect Committee	
SECTION 8.	Availability of Entitlement Shares	7
SECTION 9.	Accounting.	7
SECTION 10.	Information to be Made Available.	7
SECTION 11.	Covenants.	8
SECTION 12.	Event of Default – Project Participant.	8
SECTION 13.	Default by FMPA.	10
SECTION 14.	Abandonment of Remedy	10
SECTION 15.	Waiver of Default.	10
SECTION 16.	Relationship to and Compliance with Other Instruments.	10
SECTION 17.	Measurement of Electric Energy.	10
SECTION 18.	Liability of Parties.	10
SECTION 19.	Assignment or Sale of Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share	10
SECTION 20.	Consent to Assignment of Power Sales Contract, Sale of Project Participant's 3	System.
SECTION 21.	Termination or Amendment of Contract.	12
SECTION 22.	Notice and Computation of Time.	12
SECTION 23.	Applicable Law; Construction.	12
SECTION 24.	Severability	13
SECTION 25.	Solar 2 Project Responsibility	13

#### **SOLAR III PROJECT**

#### **POWER SALES CONTRACT**

This POWER SALES CONTRACT is made and entered into as of [DATE], by and between FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY, a legal entity organized under the laws of the State of Florida ("FMPA") and the City of Lake Worth Beach, Florida, a political subdivision and public agency of the State of Florida and a member of FMPA (the "Project Participant").

#### WITNESSETH:

**WHEREAS**, FMPA was created to, among other things, provide a means for the Florida municipal corporations and other entities which are members of FMPA to cooperate with each other on a basis of mutual advantage in the generation of Electric Energy; and

WHEREAS, FMPA is authorized and empowered, among other things, (i) to plan, finance, acquire, construct, reconstruct, own, lease, operate, maintain, repair, improve, extend or otherwise participate jointly in one or more electric projects; (ii) to issue its bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness to pay all or part of the costs of acquiring such electric projects; and (iii) to exercise all other powers which may be necessary and proper to further the purposes of FMPA which have been or may be granted to FMPA under the laws of the State of Florida; and;

WHEREAS, [SELLER NAME], including its successors or assigns, ("Seller") is developing solar photovoltaic single-axis tracking electric generating facilities having nameplate capacities of 74.9 MW alternating current ("ac"), which will be designed, financed, constructed and operated by Seller in [COUNTIES] Counties, Florida ("Solar Facility"); and

WHEREAS, FMPA has entered into Power Purchase Agreements between Seller and FMPA on behalf of the Solar III Project ("Solar PPA"), a copies of which are attached to this Power Sales Contract as "Attachment A," and FMPA will purchase and receive a portion of the as-available net Electric Energy output and associated Renewable Energy Attributes and Facility Attributes produced by Solar Facility (referred to cumulatively in this Power Sales Contract as the "Solar Product"); and

WHEREAS, FMPA will take or cause to be taken all steps necessary for delivery to Project Participant and the other Project Participants of their respective share of the Solar Product produced from or attributable to the Solar Facility and delivered to FMPA under the Solar PPA, and will sell the Solar Product from the Solar Facility pursuant to this Power Sales Contract and pursuant to contracts substantially similar to this contract with such other Project Participants; and

WHEREAS, the execution of the Solar PPA for the supply of Solar Product produced by or attributable to the Solar Facility to the Project Participant and the other Project Participants contracting with FMPA therefore is authorized by the Interlocal Agreement creating the Florida Municipal Power Agency FMPA, as amended to date and as such Interlocal Agreement has been supplemented by a resolution adopted by the Board of FMPA at a meeting duly called and duly held on December 12, 2019, which Interlocal Agreement, as so amended and supplemented, constitutes "an agreement to implement a project" and a "joint power agreement" for the Solar III Project, as such terms are used in Chapter 361, Part II, Florida Statutes, as amended; and

**WHEREAS**, in order to pay the cost of acquiring the Solar Product produced by or attributable to the Solar Facility under the Solar PPA, it is necessary for FMPA to have substantially similar binding contracts with the Project Participant and such other Project Participants purchasing Solar Product produced by or attributable to the Solar Facility.

**NOW, THEREFORE**, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, it is agreed by and between the parties hereto as follows:

#### **SECTION 1.** Definitions and Explanations of Terms. As used herein:

Allocable A&G Costs shall mean administrative and general costs incurred by FMPA that have been allocated to the Solar III Project by the FMPA Board of Directors. The initial allocation of Allocable A&G Costs is attached to this Power Sales Contract as "Attachment B," as it may be amended from time to time at the discretion of the FMPA Board of Directors.

Annual Budget means the budget adopted by the Board of FMPA pursuant to paragraph (a) of SECTION 4 hereof which itemizes the estimated Monthly Energy Costs and Project Related Costs for the following Contract Year, or, in the case of an amended Annual Budget adopted by the Board of FMPA, during the remainder of a Contract Year, and the Project Participant's share, if any, of each.

<u>Board</u> shall mean the Board of Directors of FMPA, or if said Board shall be abolished, the board, body, commission or agency succeeding to the principal functions thereof.

Contract Year shall mean the twelve (12) month period commencing at 12:01 a.m. on October 1 of each year, except that the first Contract Year shall commence on 12:01 a.m. on [date], and shall expire at 12:00 a.m. the next succeeding October 1.

<u>Discretionary Term Decision</u> shall have the meaning set forth in SECTION 7(a) of this Power Sales Contract.

<u>Downgrade Event</u> shall have the meaning set forth in the Solar PPA.

Effective Date shall have the meaning set forth in SECTION 2 of this Power Sales Contract.

Electric Energy shall mean kilowatt hours (kWh).

<u>Energy Price</u> means the price (\$/MWh) to be paid by FMPA under the Solar PPA for Solar Product produced by the Solar Facility and delivered by Seller to FMPA.

<u>Energy Share</u> shall mean FMPA's 53.55 MW share under the Solar PPA in the Solar Product produced by or associated with the Solar Facility.

Facility Attributes has the meaning given in the Solar PPA.

<u>Initial Energy Delivery Date</u> shall have the meaning provided for in the Solar PPA.

<u>Interlocal Agreement</u> means the Interlocal Agreement creating the Florida Municipal Power Agency, as amended and supplemented to date, and as the same may be amended or supplemented in the future.

Month shall mean a calendar month.

Monthly Energy Costs shall mean, with respect to each Month of each Contract Year, the product of (i) the Energy Price and (ii) the quantity of Solar Product delivered by Seller to FMPA.

Point of Delivery shall mean the high side of the generator step-up transformer of the Solar Facility.

<u>Power Sales Contracts</u> shall mean this Power Sales Contract and the other Power Sales Contracts, dated the date hereof, between FMPA and the other Project Participants, all relating to the Solar PPA and Solar Facility, as the same may be amended from time to time, and any substantially similar contract entered into by FMPA in connection with any transfer or assignment in accordance with this Power Sales Contract.

<u>Project Development Fund Costs</u> shall mean those costs incurred by FMPA and funded by the FMPA Project Development Fund used for the establishment of the FMPA Solar III Project. The Project

Development Fund Costs as of the Effective Date are set forth in "Attachment D" of this Power Sales Contract.

Project Related Costs shall mean the costs incurred under the Solar PPA other than Monthly Energy Costs, as well as any other costs incurred by FMPA directly attributable to the Solar III Project, including, without limitation, Allocable A&G Costs, any amounts to reimburse FMPA Project Development Fund Costs, a Working Capital Allowance, any costs associated with real-time monitoring of the output from the Solar Facility to facilitate Project Participants' transmission scheduling requirements, any credit or payment assurance amounts that may be required under the Solar PPA due to a Downgrade Event, as such term is defined in the Solar PPA, among others.

<u>Project Participants</u> shall mean the parties, including the Project Participant, other than FMPA, to Power Sales Contracts substantially similar hereto.

Renewable Attributes has the meaning given in the Solar PPA.

<u>Schedule of Project Participants</u> shall mean the Schedule of Project Participants contained in Schedule 1 attached hereto, as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the provisions hereof.

<u>Seller</u> shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Power Sales Contract.

<u>Solar Entitlement Share</u> shall mean, with respect to each project Participant, that percentage of FMPA's Energy Share from the Solar Facility shown opposite the name of such Project Participant in the Schedule of Project Participants as the same may be adjusted from time to time in accordance with the provisions hereof.

Solar III Project shall mean the contractual arrangements and agreements for the purchase of Solar Product by FMPA pursuant to the Solar PPA and sale of the Solar Product to Project Participant pursuant to this Power Sales Contract.

Solar III Project Committee has the meaning set forth in SECTION 7 of this Power Sales Contract.

Solar Facility shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Power Sales Contract.

Solar Product shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Power Sales Contract.

<u>Solar PPA</u> shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Power Sales Contract.

<u>Transmission Service Provider</u> shall mean the transmission service provider(s) to which the Solar Facility is interconnected.

<u>Uniform System of Accounts</u> shall mean the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (or its successor in function) Uniform Systems of Accounts prescribed for Class A and Class B Public Utilities and Licensees, as the same may be modified, amended or supplemented from time to time.

Working Capital Allowance shall mean funds acquired by the Solar III Project in such amounts as shall be deemed reasonably necessary by the FMPA Board of Directors to provide for any working capital needs, including providing for the Solar III Project's ability to pay the Seller in the event of non-payment by one or more Project Participants. The initial Working Capital Allowance and the method of funding is described in "Attachment C" to this Power Sales Contract.

#### SECTION 2. Term & Termination.

(a) <u>Effective Date.</u> This Power Sales Contract shall become effective upon the last date of execution and delivery of all Power Sales Contracts by all Project Participants originally listed in the Schedule of Project Participants and by FMPA (the "Effective Date") and shall, unless this Power Sales

Contract is terminated early pursuant hereto, continue until the expiration or earlier termination of the Solar PPA. Unless a Project Participant terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 19(a) by paying all stranded cost obligations, neither termination nor expiration of this Power Sales Contract shall affect any accrued liability or obligation hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event it is ultimately determined that any other Project Participant failed to duly and validly execute and deliver its Power Sales Contract, or if any other Power Sales Contract, or any portion thereof, shall be deemed invalid or unenforceable for any other reason whatsoever, such determination shall in no way affect the commencement, term or enforceability of this Power Sales Contract or the Project Participant's obligations hereunder.

(b) <u>Early Termination</u>. Project Participant may terminate this Power Sales Contract pursuant to SECTION 19 of this Power Sales Contract.

#### **SECTION 3.** Sale and Purchase.

Commencing on the Initial Energy Delivery Date of the Solar Facility, FMPA shall purchase from Seller in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Solar PPA, and FMPA agrees to and does sell, and the Project Participant agrees to and does hereby purchase, the Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share. The Project Participant shall, in accordance with and subject to the provisions of SECTION 5 hereof, pay FMPA (i) for its Solar Entitlement Share, an amount determined by multiplying Monthly Energy Costs by the Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share, and (ii) for its share of monthly Project Related Costs, an amount determined by multiplying the Project Related Costs for such Month by Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share. FMPA shall provide documentation evidencing the conveyance of the Renewable Attributes associated with the Solar Product to Project Participant in a form acceptable to FMPA and Project Participant.

#### **SECTION 4.** Project Budget.

- (a) In accordance with the FMPA Board of Directors' annual schedule for budget development, the Solar III Project Committee shall develop and approve a budget for the Solar III Project and submit the same to the FMPA Board of Directors for approval. As part of the budget process, the Solar III Project Committee will review Project Related Costs, including the Allocable A&G and the Working Capital Allowance, to ensure the appropriate amount of resources are allocated the Solar III Project.
- (b) On or before [date], and on or before August 1 prior to the beginning of each Contract Year thereafter, the Board of FMPA shall review the proposed Solar III Project budget submitted by the Solar III Project Committee, and shall adopt and submit to the Project Participant an Annual Budget for the following Contract Year which shall provide an estimate of the Project Participant's monthly payments hereunder and serve as a basis for Project Participants' payments hereunder for Monthly Energy Costs and Project Related Costs for such Contract Year.
- (c) During each Contract Year, the Solar III Project Committee or Board may review its Annual Budget for the remainder of the Contract Year at any time as it shall deem desirable. In the event such or any other review indicates that such Annual Budget will not substantially correspond with actual Monthly Energy Costs, or actual Project Related Costs, or if at any time during such Contract Year there are or are expected to be extraordinary receipts, credits or costs substantially affecting the Monthly Energy Costs, or Project Related Costs, the Solar III Project Committee shall recommend and the Board of FMPA shall adopt and submit to each Project Participant an amended Annual Budget applicable to the remainder of such Contract Year which shall provide an estimate of the Project Participant's monthly payments hereunder for the remainder of such Contract Year and serve as the basis for the Project Participant's monthly payments for Monthly Energy Costs and Project Related Costs hereunder for the remainder of such Contract Year.

#### **SECTION 5.** Billing, Payment, Disputed Amounts.

- (a) On or before the 10th day of each Month beginning with the second Month of the first Contract Year following the Effective Date, FMPA shall render to the Project Participant a monthly statement showing, in each case with respect to the prior Month, the amount of energy delivered for each hour and the amounts payable by Project Participant in respect of the following (i) the Monthly Energy Costs; (ii) the Project Related Costs; and (iii) any amount, if any, to be credited to or paid by the Project Participant pursuant to the terms of this Power Sales Contract.
- (b) Monthly payments required to be paid to FMPA pursuant to this SECTION 5SECTION 4 shall be due and payable to FMPA on the 25th day of the Month in which the monthly statement was rendered. The Project Participant shall make payment to FMPA by the transfer of funds from the Project Participant's bank account, using an ACH Push or domestic Wire Transfer, through instructions to be provided by FMPA to the Project Participant.
- (c) If payment in full is not made on or before the close of business on the due date, a delayed payment charge on the unpaid amount due for each day overdue will be imposed at a rate equal to the annual percentage prime rate of interest plus 5%, or the maximum rate lawfully payable by the Project Participant, whichever is less. If said due date is Saturday, Sunday or a holiday, the next following business day shall be the last day on which payment may be made without the addition of the delayed payment charge.
- (d) In the event of any dispute that is known by Project Participant, or should have reasonably been known, as to any portion of any monthly statement, the Project Participant shall nevertheless pay the full amount of such disputed charges when due and shall give written notice of such dispute to FMPA not later than the date such payment is due. Such notice shall identify the disputed bill, state the amount in dispute and set forth a full statement of the grounds on which such dispute is based. No adjustment shall be considered or made for disputed charges unless notice is given as aforesaid. FMPA shall give consideration to such dispute and shall advise the Project Participant with regard to its position relative thereto within thirty (30) days following receipt of such written notice. Upon final determination (whether by agreement, adjudication or otherwise) of the correct amount, any difference between such correct amount and such full amount shall be properly reflected in the statement next submitted to the Project Participant after such determination. If it is determined that the disputed amount is in the favor of the Participant, to the extent that FMPA earned any interest on the amount withheld, then interest actually earned shall be applied to the overpaid amount.
- The obligation of the Project Participant to make the payments under this SECTION 5 shall (e) constitute an obligation of the Project Participant payable as an operating expense of the Project Participant's electric utility system solely from the revenues and other available funds of the electric utility system. The obligation of the Project Participant to make payments under this Power Sales Contract shall not be subject to any reduction, whether by offset, counterclaim, or otherwise, and shall not be otherwise conditioned upon performance of FMPA or Seller under the Solar PPA or the performance by FMPA under this or any other agreement or instrument or the validity or enforceability of any other Power Sales Contract or any other agreement between FMPA and any other Project Participant; provided, however, that the Monthly Energy Costs payable by Project Participant shall reflect the Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share of the quantity of Solar Product made available by the Seller at the Point of Delivery, and payable by FMPA under the Solar PPA, during that month. The obligation of the Project Participant to make payments under this SECTION 5SECTION 4 shall not constitute a debt of the Project Participant within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision or limitation or a general obligation of or pledge of the full faith and credit of the Project Participant, and neither the Project Participant nor the State of Florida or any agency or political subdivision thereof shall ever be obligated or compelled to levy ad valorem taxes to make the revenues provided for in this SECTION 5, and the obligation of the Project

Participant to make payments pursuant to this SECTION 5 shall not give rise to or constitute a lien upon any property of the Project Participant or any property located within its boundaries or service area.

#### SECTION 6. Scheduling of Deliveries; Transmission.

- (a) FMPA shall cause Seller, or Seller's agent, to schedule and deliver FMPA's Energy Share to the Point(s) of Delivery in accordance with standard scheduling and dispatching procedures. Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by FMPA and Project Participant, Project Participant shall be responsible for scheduling the delivery of its Solar Entitlement Share of Electric Energy, as well as the associated transmission service, from the Point(s) of Delivery to Project Participant's electric system. Upon request, FMPA, or its agent, shall provide such Project Participant with the Seller's daily forecasted output of the Solar Facility as provided by Seller pursuant to the Solar PPA. FMPA, or its agent, shall maintain communication with the Project Participant regarding Solar Facility forecasts and real-time output in order to enable Project Participant to modify its transmission schedules with its transmission service provider to align with the Solar Facility's actual output.
- (b) Project Participant shall be responsible for securing transmission service necessary to deliver the Solar Energy from the Point of Delivery to Project Participant's electric system. To the extent this transmission service requires upgrades to Project Participant's transmission service provider's transmission system, Project Participant shall be responsible for ensuring all upgrades are complete and Project Participant is able to receive its Solar Entitlement Share prior to the Initial Energy Delivery Date, as defined in the Solar PPA, or otherwise arrange for alternative transmission arrangement for, or disposal of, its Solar Entitlement Share until such time as Project Participant can receive it. Project Participant shall be responsible for enforcing its rights under its transmission service agreement(s) and its transmission service provider's Open Access Transmission Tariff ("OATT") regarding the transmission service provider's obligation to make such upgrades.
- (c) All of the provisions of this SECTION 6 are subject to the provisions of the Solar PPA, and in the event of any inconsistencies between this SECTION 6 and the provisions of the Solar PPA governing scheduling, the terms of the Solar PPA shall govern.

# SECTION 7. Solar PPA Early Termination and Term Extension, other Solar PPA Business Matters, and Solar III Project Committee.

The Solar PPA includes several provisions that allow the Solar III Project to exercise discretion regarding whether to extend the Term of the Solar PPA or to continue the existing Term of the Solar PPA despite a triggering event under the terms of the Solar PPA that permit early termination (hereinafter referred to as "Discretionary Term Decisions"). Such Discretionary Term Decisions may include, for example but without limitation, options for extension of the Term of the Solar PPA beyond the Initial Term, options for continuing or terminating obligations related to portions of the solar capacity that do not make commercial operation deadlines, and options for early termination of the Solar PPA if certain conditions precedent are not met. Project Participant and all other Project Participants will each designate a representative to serve on the Solar III Project Committee. The Committee will meet in advance of any Discretionary Term Decisions provided for under the Solar PPA, and as FMPA or any Project Participant may request, with 30 day advance Notice (or less if the matter at hand so requires). The Solar III Project Committee shall meet not less than 180 days prior to the expiration of the Initial Term or a Renewal Term, as defined in the Solar PPA, if any, to decide whether to extend the Term of the Solar PPA. In making any Discretionary Term Decision, the Solar III Project Committee will vote on the matter. If the Solar III Project Committee unanimously decides to exercise a Discretionary Term Decision, then such unanimous consent shall be presented to the FMPA Board of Directors as a recommendation for action on the matter. If one or more Solar III Project Participants do not wish to exercise a Discretionary Term Decision, then the other Solar III Project Participants may elect to assume the Solar Entitlement Share of those Project Participant(s)

that do not wish to exercise the Discretionary Term Decision. In such event, the non-exercising Project Participant(s)' Solar III Project Power Sales Contract shall be terminated, and the Power Sales Contract of the assuming Project Participant(s)' shall be amended to reflect the revised Solar Entitlement Shares. In the event that the Project Participant(s) that wish to exercise the Discretionary Term Decision cannot agree to assume 100% of the terminating Project Participant(s)' Solar Entitlement Share, then the Discretionary Term Decision shall not be exercised.

(b) All other, non-Discretionary Term Decisions made by the Solar III Project Committee shall be by a simple majority, with each Project Participant having one equally-weighted vote on Solar III Project matters. After formation of the Solar III Project, each Project Participant shall designate a representative to serve on the Solar III Project Committee. The Solar III Project Committee shall develop a Solar III Project Committee Charter for review and approval of the Board of Directors.

#### SECTION 8. Availability of Entitlement Shares.

Except as provided otherwise by this Power Sales Contract, and subject to the provisions of the Solar PPA, the Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share shall be made available for delivery to each Project Participant by FMPA in accordance with this Power Sales Contract during the term of this Power Sales Contract; provided, however, that, regardless of the amount of Solar Product actually delivered in any given month, Project Participant shall be obligated to make its payments under SECTION 5 hereof all for non-energy related Project Related Costs.

#### **SECTION 9.** Accounting.

- (a) FMPA agrees to keep accurate records and accounts relating to the Solar III Project and relating to Monthly Energy Costs, and Project Related Costs, in accordance with the Uniform System of Accounts, separate and distinct from its other records and accounts. Said accounts shall be audited annually, which audit may be conducted as part of and in connection with the normal year-end audit of FMPA, by a firm of certified public accountants, experienced in public finance and electric utility accounting and of national reputation, to be employed by FMPA. A copy of each annual audit, including all written comments and recommendations of such accountants, shall be furnished by FMPA to the Project Participant not later than 120 days after the end of each Contract Year.
- (b) The Project Participant shall supply to FMPA upon request a copy of the Project Participant's annual financial audit. Project Participant shall notify FMPA in writing immediately upon becoming aware of any event that may negatively affect the Project Participant's credit rating or cause a Downgrade Event, as defined in the Solar PPA.

#### **SECTION 10. Information to be Made Available.**

- (a) Based, in each case, upon the data most recently available to FMPA pursuant to the Solar PPA, at intervals requested by Project Participant, FMPA will prepare and issue to the Project Participant the following reports:
  - (1) status of the Solar III Project annual budget,
  - (2) status of construction of the Solar Facility during construction, as received from Seller, and
    - (3) operating statistics relating to Solar III Project, as received from Seller
- (b) Upon request, FMPA shall furnish or otherwise make available to the Project Participant all other information which FMPA receives from Seller pursuant to the Solar PPA.
- (c) FMPA shall promptly provide Project Participant copies of any notices made or received by FMPA pursuant to the Solar PPA.

(d) Project Participant shall, upon request, furnish to FMPA all such information as is reasonably required by FMPA to carry out its obligations under this Power Sales Contract and the Solar PPA. As the Solar III Project is obligated to demonstrate creditworthiness as a requirement of the Solar PPA and report to Seller any Downgrade Event, Project Participants will cooperate with FMPA and will promptly notify FMPA of any event experienced by Project Participant that may cause or contribute to a Downgrade Event.

#### **SECTION 11. Covenants.**

(a) Project Participant Covenants. Project Participant agrees (1) to maintain its electric utility system in good repair and operating condition; (2) to cooperate with FMPA in the performance of the respective obligations of such Project Participant and FMPA under this Power Sales Contract; (3) to establish, levy and collect rents, rates and other charges for the products and services provided by its electric utility system, which rents, rates, and other charges shall be at least sufficient (i) to meet the operation and maintenance expenses of such electric utility system, (ii) to comply with all covenants pertaining thereto contained in, and all other provisions of, any resolution, trust indenture, or other security agreement relating to any bonds or other evidences of indebtedness issued or to be issued by the Project Participant, (iii) to generate funds sufficient to fulfill the terms of all other contracts and agreements made by the Project Participant, including, without limitation, this Power Sales Contract, and (iv) to pay all other amounts payable from or constituting a lien or charge on the revenues of its electric utility system; and (4) take such action and execute and deliver all documents and information reasonably necessary to enable FMPA to perform its obligations under the Solar PPA.

Project Participant agrees that any power purchase agreement entered into by Project Participant after the Effective Date of this Power Sales Contract, including, without limitation, any full-requirements power supply agreement, with any third party shall permit Project Participant to purchase and receive Solar Product pursuant to this Power Sales Contract.

(b) <u>FMPA Covenants</u>. FMPA covenants that it shall administer and enforce against the Seller the terms and conditions of the Solar PPA, including complying with any covenants required therein, as advised by the Solar III Project Committee and directed by the FMPA Board of Directors.

#### **SECTION 12.** Event of Default – Project Participant.

- (a) Failure of the Project Participant to make to FMPA when due any of the payments for which provision is made in this Power Sales Contract shall constitute an immediate default on the part of the Project Participant.
- (b) Continuing Obligation, Right to Discontinue Service. In the event of any default referred to in this SECTION 12 hereof, the Project Participant shall not be relieved of its liability for payment of the amounts in default, plus reasonable attorney's fees and costs, and FMPA shall have the right to recover from the Project Participant any amount in default. In enforcement of any such right of recovery, FMPA may bring any suit, action, or proceeding in law or in equity, including mandamus, injunction, specific performance, declaratory judgment, or any combination thereof, as may be necessary or appropriate to enforce any covenant, agreement or obligation to make any payment for which provision is made in this Power Sales Contract against the Project Participant, and FMPA shall, upon ten (10) days written notice to the Project Participant, cease and discontinue, either permanently or on a temporary basis, providing all or any portion of the Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share, at the discretion of the Solar III Project Committee.
- (c) Transfer of Solar Entitlement Shares Following Default. In the event of a default by any Project Participant and permanent discontinuance of service pursuant to this SECTION 12 of such Project Participant's Power Sales Contract, FMPA is hereby appointed the agent of such Project Participant for the

purpose of disposing of such Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share and as such agent, FMPA shall proceed to dispose of such defaulting Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share as follows:

- (1) FMPA shall first offer to transfer to all other non-defaulting Project Participants a pro rata portion of the defaulting Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share which shall have been discontinued by reason of such default. Any part of such Solar Entitlement Share of a defaulting Project Participant which shall be declined by any non-defaulting Project Participant shall be reoffered pro rata to the non-defaulting Project Participants which have accepted in full the first such offer; such reoffering shall be repeated until such defaulting Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share has been reallocated in full or until all non-defaulting Project Participants have declined to take any portion or additional portion of such defaulting Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share.
- (2) In the event less than all of a defaulting Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share shall be accepted by the other non-defaulting Project Participants pursuant to clause (1), FMPA shall, to the extent permitted by law, use commercially reasonable efforts to sell the remaining portion of a defaulting Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share for the remaining term of such defaulting Project Participant's Power Sales Contract with FMPA. The agreement for such sale shall contain such terms and conditions, including provisions for discontinuance of service upon default, and as are otherwise acceptable to the Solar III Project Committee.
- (3) Any portion of the Solar Entitlement Share of a defaulting Project Participant transferred pursuant to SECTION 12(c)(1) to a non-defaulting Project Participant shall become a part of and shall be added to the Solar Entitlement Share of such Project Participant(s), and each such Project Participant(s) shall be obligated to pay for its Solar Entitlement Share increased as aforesaid, as if the Solar Entitlement Share of such Project Participant(s), increased as aforesaid, had been stated originally as the Solar Entitlement Share of such Project Participant(s) in its Power Sales Contract with FMPA; provided, however, that the Project Participant assuming the defaulting Project Participant's Power Entitlement share shall not be liable for, and the defaulting Project Participant prior to the assignment and assumption of the defaulting Project Participant's Power Entitlement Share.
- (4) The defaulting Project Participant shall remain liable for all payments to be made on its part pursuant to the Power Sales Contract, except that the obligation of the defaulting Project Participant to pay FMPA shall be reduced to the extent that payments shall be received by FMPA, net of any administrative and reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred by FMPA that is caused by the default, for that portion of the defaulting Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share which may be transferred or sold or for the Solar Product associated therewith which may be sold as provided in clauses (1), (2), or (3) of this SECTION 12. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent a defaulting Project Participant has failed to pay its Solar III Project invoice, in order to prevent FMPA from defaulting under the Solar PPA, the non-defaulting Project Participants' monthly Solar III Project invoices shall be increased on a pro rata basis, based on such Project Participants Solar Entitlement Shares, unless and until FMPA shall recover from the defaulting Project Participants amounts owed, upon which FMPA shall reimburse the non-defaulting Project Participants.
- (d) Other Default by Project Participant. In the event of any default by the Project Participant under any other covenant, agreement or obligation of this Power Sales Contract which has not been cured within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice by FMPA, FMPA may bring any suit, action, or proceeding in law or in equity, including mandamus, injunction, specific performance, declaratory judgment, or any combination thereof, as may be necessary or appropriate to enforce any covenant, agreement or obligation

of this Power Sales Contract against the Project Participant. Such remedies shall be in addition to all other remedies provided for herein.

#### **SECTION 13. Default by FMPA.**

In the event of any default by FMPA under any other covenant, agreement or obligation of this Power Sales Contract, Project Participant may bring any suit, action, or proceeding in law or in equity, including mandamus, injunction, specific performance, declaratory judgment, or any combination thereof, as may be necessary or appropriate to enforce any covenant, agreement or obligation of this Power Sales Contract against FMPA. Such remedies shall be in addition to all other remedies provided for herein.

#### **SECTION 14. Abandonment of Remedy.**

In case any proceeding taken on account of any default shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, the parties to such proceedings shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, and all rights, remedies, powers and duties of FMPA and the Project Participant shall continue as though no such proceedings had been taken.

#### SECTION 15. Waiver of Default.

Any waiver at any time by either FMPA or the Project Participant of its rights with respect to any default of the other party hereto, or with respect to any other matter arising in connection with this Power Sales Contract, shall not be a waiver with respect to any subsequent default, right or matter.

#### **SECTION 16.** Relationship to and Compliance with Other Instruments.

The performance of FMPA under this Power Sales Contract is made subject to the terms and provisions of the Solar PPA.

#### **SECTION 17.** Measurement of Electric Energy.

FMPA will or will cause Seller to install, maintain, and operate the metering equipment, required to measure the quantities of Electric Energy produced and delivered from the Solar Facility in accordance with the Solar PPA. Each meter used pursuant to this SECTION 17 shall be tested and calibrated in accordance with the Solar PPA.

#### **SECTION 18. Liability of Parties.**

Any liability which is incurred by FMPA pursuant to the Solar PPA and not covered, or not covered sufficiently, by insurance shall be paid solely from the revenues of FMPA derived from the Solar III Project, and any payments made by FMPA, or which FMPA is obligated to make, to satisfy such liability shall become part of Monthly Energy Costs, as required in order to satisfy the obligation of FMPA to make such payments as provided in the Solar PPA.

#### SECTION 19. Assignment or Sale of Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share.

(a) Project Participant may terminate this Power Sales Contract upon 90 days advance written notice to FMPA and provided that Project Participant pay, prior to the termination date, the amounts set forth in this SECTION 19(a). Prior to the termination date, Project Participant shall pay to FMPA all stranded cost obligations, as determined by FMPA, to hold the other, non-terminating, Project Participants harmless from the costs associated with Project Participant's termination. For purposes of this SECTION 19(a), stranded cost obligations are defined as an estimate of the solar energy costs that FMPA will pay for the terminating Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share during each remaining month of the remaining Initial Term of the Solar PPA based on a forecast of expected solar production. The forecast of expected solar production is defined as a P50 (probability of exceedance is 50 percent) production estimate under typical meteorological year conditions using an industry standard modeling tool (PVsyst or its

successor/peer products) reflective of a degradation rate of 0.5% per year relative to the original nominal alternating current capacity of the solar resource in the current year (prorated over a partial year as applicable) and each subsequent remaining year of the Solar PPA Initial Term. Upon such payment and termination, Project Participant shall have no further obligation to the Solar III Project or other Project Participants under this Power Sales Contract. The terminating Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share shall be allocated to the remaining Project Participants on a pro rata basis based on their Solar Entitlement Shares.

- (b) Project Participant may assign this Power Sales Contract to another Project Participant or another FMPA member, provided that such assignee agrees to fully assume, and fully accept all terms and conditions of, this Power Sales Contract for the Term hereof. If assigned to a FMPA member that is not a Project Participant, such assuming FMPA member shall become a Project Participant upon its assumption of the Power Sales Contract. Upon such assignment and assumption, this Power Sales Contract shall terminate, and Project Participant shall have no further obligation to the Solar III Project or other Project Participants under this Power Sales Contract.
- In the event the Project Participant shall determine that all or any amount of the Solar Product which can be produced from the Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share are in excess of the requirements of the Project Participant, or Project Participant no longer desires to purchase and receive its Solar Entitlement Share, at the written request of the Project Participant, FMPA shall use commercially reasonable efforts to sell and transfer on behalf of such Project Participant for any period of time all or any part of such excess Solar Product to such other Project Participant or Participants as shall agree to take such Solar Product at such prices as may be agreed to, provided, however, that in the event the other Project Participants do not agree to take the entire amount of such excess, FMPA shall have the right, to the extent permitted by law, to dispose of such excess to other utilities. If all or any portion of such excess of the Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share is sold pursuant to this SECTION 19(c), then the Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share shall not be reduced, and the Project Participant shall remain liable to FMPA to pay the full amount due as if such sale had not been made; except that such liability shall be discharged to the extent that FMPA shall receive payment for such excess from the purchaser or purchasers thereof and that any amounts received by FMPA as payment for such excess which is greater than the liability owed by the Project Participant to FMPA in respect of such excess shall be promptly paid or credited by FMPA to the Project Participant.

# SECTION 20. Consent to Assignment of Power Sales Contract, Sale of Project Participant's System.

- (a) This Power Sales Contract shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the respective successors and assigns of the parties to this Power Sales Contract; provided, however, that, except as provided in (1) SECTION 12 hereof in the event of a default; (2) SECTION 19(a), and (3) SECTION 20(b), neither this Power Sales Contract nor any interest herein shall be transferred or assigned by either party hereto except with the consent in writing of the other party hereto, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Solar III Project Committee shall make a recommendation on any assignment of a Power Sales Contract hereunder to the FMPA Board of Directors for their action.
- (b) Project Participant agrees that it will not sell, lease, abandon or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its electric utility system except upon ninety (90) days prior written notice to FMPA and, in any event, will not sell, lease, abandon or otherwise dispose of the same unless the following conditions are met: (i) the Project Participant shall, subject to the Solar PPA, assign this Power Sales Contract and its rights and interest hereunder to the purchaser or lessee of said electric system, if any, and any such purchaser or lessee shall assume all obligations of the Project Participant under this Power Sales Contract; and (ii) FMPA shall by affirmative vote of the FMPA Solar III Project Committee reasonably determine that such

sale, lease, abandonment or other disposition will not materially adversely affect FMPA's ability to meet its obligations under the Solar PPA.

#### **SECTION 21. Termination or Amendment of Contract.**

- (a) This Power Sales Contract shall not be terminated by either party under any circumstances, whether based upon the default of the other party under this Power Sales Contract or any other instrument or otherwise except as specifically provided in this Power Sales Contract.
- (b) This Power Sales Contract may be terminated by FMPA by notice to the Project Participant upon an event of default by Project Participant that has not been cured in accordance with this Power Sales Contract.
- (c) No Power Sales Contract entered into between FMPA and another Project Participant may be amended so as to provide terms and conditions different from those herein contained except upon written notice to and written consent or waiver by each of the other Project Participants, and upon similar amendment being made to the Power Sales Contract of any other Project Participants requesting such amendment after receipt by such Project Participant of notice of such amendment.

#### **SECTION 22. Notice and Computation of Time.**

Any notice or demand by the Project Participant to FMPA under this Power Sales Contract shall be deemed properly given if sent by overnight mail or courier, or by facsimile or email transmission to the following:

Florida Municipal Power Agency Attn: Chief Operating Officer 8553 Commodity Circle Orlando, FL 32819

Email: ken.rutter@fmpa.com

Fax: 407-355-5794

With a required copy to: FMPA Office of the General Counsel 2061-2 Delta Way P.O. Box 3209 (32315-3209) Tallahassee, FL 32303

Email: jody.lamar.finkea@fmpa.com dan.ohagan@fmpa.com

Fax: 850-297-2014

Any notice or demand by FMPA to the Project Participant under this Power Sales Contract shall be deemed properly given if sent by overnight mail or courier, or by facsimile or email transmission, and addressed to the Project Participant at the address set forth on Schedule 1 hereto.

A notice sent by facsimile transmission or e-mail will be recognized and shall be deemed received on the business day on which such notice was transmitted if received before 5:00 p.m. (and if received after 5:00 p.m., on the next business day) and a notice of overnight mail or courier shall be deemed to have been received two (2) business days after it was sent or such earlier time as is confirmed by the receiving Party.

The designations of the name and address to which any such notice or demand is directed may be changed at any time and from time to time by either party giving notice as above provided.

#### **SECTION 23. Applicable Law; Construction.**

This Power Sales Contract is made under and shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida. Headings herein are for convenience only and shall not influence the construction hereof.

#### **SECTION 24. Severability.**

If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Power Sales Contract shall be finally adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remainder of this Power Sales Contract shall remain in full force and effect as though such section, paragraph, clause or provision or any part thereof so adjudicated to be invalid had not been included herein.

#### **SECTION 25.** Solar III Project Responsibility

This Power Sales Contract is a liability and obligation of the Solar III Project only. No liability or obligation under this Power Sales Contract shall inure to or bind any of the funds, accounts, monies, property, instruments, or rights of FMPA generally, any individual FMPA member other than Project Participant, or any of any other "project" of FMPA as that term is defined in the Interlocal Agreement

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the parties hereto have caused this Power Sales Contract to be executed by their proper officers respectively, being thereunto duly authorized, and their respective seals to be hereto affixed, as of the day and year first above written.

	FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
(SEAL)	
	By: General Manager & CEO
	General Manager & CEO
Attest:	Date:
Secretary or Assistant Secretary	_
	CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA
(SEAL)	
	By:
	Title: Betty Resch, Mayor
Attest:	
	Date:
By: Melissa Coyne, City Clerk	_
Approved as to form and legal sufficiency:	
By: Glen J. Torcivia, City Attorney	_

# ATTACHMENT A POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENTS

#### ATTACHMENT B

#### FMPA PROCESS FOR DETERMINING ALLOCABLE A&G COSTS

FMPA uses a process to determine the Administrative and General costs (A&G) that will be incurred to effectively manage its non-ARP power supply projects. FMPA's Board approves the process and the allocations to power supply project participants when the Board approves each annual power supply project budget. The process is subject to annual review and approval by the Board, and thus, may change from time to time.

The total A&G allocated to the Solar III Project will not exceed 100% of the cost associated with the single highest cost non-executive level FMPA position essential to the effective management of the Projects, and annual increases in total A&G allocated shall be commensurate with annual salary increases of such highest costs non-executive level FMPA position. Any revision to this approach shall require the approval of the Solar III Project Committee. As of the Effective Date of this Agreement, the amount equal to 100% of the cost associated with the single highest cost non-executive level FMPA position essential to the effective management of the Projects is \$\$\$\$.

The following describes the power supply project A&G cost determination process for the FY[date] Budget and provides an example of how A&G costs will be allocated to Solar III Project and ARP Solar Participants, starting with the FY[date] budget:

- 1) Staff determines the FMPA positions that are essential to effective management of the Projects.
- 2) Staff determines the percent time each position spends serving the needs of each the Projects and the ARP.
- 3) The allocable cost of each position to each of the Projects is the percent time this position spends serving the needs of each the Projects determined in 2) multiplied by the current mid-point of the salary range of the position as maintained by FMPA's Human Resources Department and approved by the Board, and multiplied by FMPA's overhead adder percentage.
- 4) The total A&G allocated to each Project is the sum of the allocable costs of each position essential to effective management of the Project.
- 5) Once the annual A&G costs to be allocated to the Solar III Project is determined, the amount is divided by 12 to arrive at the monthly allocable A&G costs.
- 6) For Solar III Project, the monthly allocable A&G costs will be divided by the total amount of the solar energy received by the Solar III Project for the billing month to determine a monthly allocable A&G rate (\$/MWh). Each Solar III Project pays this rate times the amount of solar energy each Participant received during the billing month.
- 7) The table below is an example of the calculation of annual and monthly allocable A&G costs to each power supply project and the Solar III Project for the FY[date] Budget using cost data and the process approved for the FY[date] Budget. This allocation process is subject to Board approval each year.

			Examp	le A&G Allo	ation for FY	2020 Budget		
Position	FY 2019 Mid Point Salary	ARP	STN	Tri-City	STN 2	St Lucie	Solar	Solar 2
General Manager	\$225,000	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	2.0%	2.0%
Admin Asst.	\$57,712	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	2.0%	2.0%
Director of Engineering	\$196,197	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	2.0%	2.0%
Engineer	\$116,129	18.0%	18.0%	18.0%	18.0%	18.0%	5.0%	5.0%
Engineering Assistant	\$57,712	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	2.0%	2.0%
Director of Finance	\$185,092	16.0%	16.0%	16.0%	16.0%	16.0%	10.0%	10.0%
Mgr. Contracts Compliance	\$123,097	16.0%	16.0%	16.0%	16.0%	16.0%	10.0%	10.0%
Accountant III	\$116,129	16.0%	16.0%	16.0%	16.0%	16.0%	10.0%	10.0%
Accounting Clerk	\$43,126	16.0%	16.0%	16.0%	16.0%	16.0%	10.0%	10.0%
Payroll Clerk PT	\$45,714	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	19.2%	2.0%	2.0%
Total	\$1,165,908	\$207,503	\$207,503	\$207,503	\$207,503	\$207,503	\$64,198	\$64,198
Overhead Adder	88.83%	88.83%	88.83%	88.83%	88.83%	88.83%	88.83%	88.83%
Annual Allocable A&G	\$2,201,616	\$391,833	\$391,833	\$391,833	\$391,833	\$391,833	\$121,226	\$121,226
Monthly Allocable A&G	\$183,468	\$32,653	\$32,653	\$32,653	\$32,653	\$32,653	\$10,102	\$10,102

#### ATTACHMENT C

#### WORKING CAPITAL ALLOWANCE

In order to provide for working capital for the Solar III Project, and to provide for the Solar III Project's ability to pay Seller in the event that of non-payment by one or more Project Participants, the Solar III Project shall maintain a working capital fund in the principal amount of \$\$\$\$ as cash on hand, or other financial instrument as determined by the Solar III Project Committee. The working capital fund will be funded at the time solar energy starts to be provided under the Solar PPA and will remain in place for the remaining term of this Power Sales Contract. Working capital expenses, including payment of interest on any amounts drawn on any financial instruments, shall constitute Project Related Costs.

#### ATTACHMENT D

#### PROJECT DEVELOPMENT FUND COSTS

As of the Effective Date of this Agreement, FMPA has incurred \$\\$\\$\\$in Project Development Fund costs.

The amount of Project Development Fund costs allocable to Project Participants shall be calculated by dividing the total balance of Development Fund Costs incurred for solar development by the total expected energy production allocated to the Solar III Project over the first 20 years of the Solar PPA. The resulting dollar per MWh cost shall be allocated as a Project Related Cost.

Project Development Fund Cost	Units	Value
Total Development Fund Expenditure	\$	
Participant Capacity	MW-AC	
Est. Annual Capacity Factor	%	
Est. Annual Project Energy	MWh	
20 Year Buy down Per Year	\$	
20 Year Buy down Per MWh	\$/MWh	

# SCHEDULE 1 SCHEDULE OF PROJECT PARTICIPANTS

Name of Project Participant	Solar Entitlement Share (MW)	Solar Entitlement Share (%)
Homestead Public Services	5	9.337%
City of Lake Worth Beach	26.55	49.580%
City of Mount Dora	2	3.735%
New Smyrna Beach Utilities Commission	10	18.674%
Winter Park Electric Utility	10	18.674%
Total	53.55	100%

## Notice Information of Project Participants

	T 04.
Homestead Public Services	City of Lake Worth Beach
George Gretsas, City Manager	City of Lake Worth Beach
The City of Homestead	Electric Utilities Director
100 Civic Court	1900 2 <sup>nd</sup> Avenue North
Homestead, FL 33033	Lake Worth, FL 33461
	Tel: (561) 586-1670
	With a copy to:
	City of Lake Worth
	Attn: City Attorney
	7 N. Dixie Highway
	Lake Worth, FL 33460
	Lake Worth, PL 33400
City of Mount Dora	City of New Smyrna Beach Utilities Commission
City of Mount Dora City Hall	Utilities Commission, City of New Smyrna Beach
510 Baker Street	200 Canal Street
Mount Dora, FL 32757	New Smyrna Beach, FL 32168
Winter Park Electric Utility	
City of Winter Park	
Randy Knight, City Manager	
401 South Park Avenue	
Winter Park, FL 32789-4386	